
Yellowstone County Zoning Commission 
Approved Minutes for the Meeting of 

Monday, September 12, 2022 

1-APPROVED

The County Zoning Commission met on Monday, September 12, 2022 at 4:00 p.m. in the 
Miller Building 1st Floor Conference Room, 2825 3rd Ave. North.  

01
/1

0/
20

22
 

04
/1

1/
20

22
 

06
/1

3/
20

22
 

07
11

/2
02

2 

08
/0

8/
20

22
 

09
/1

2/
20

22
 

Blaine Poppler Commissioner 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Melissa Ray Gentry Commissioner 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Tyler Bush Commissioner 
Chairman 1 1 1 1 1 E 

Todd Hewitt Commissioner 1 1 1 1 E 1 

Open Commissioner 

Commissioner Poppler opened the meeting and introduced the County Zoning Commission 
members and Planning Division staff. Commissioner Hewitt is participating virtually. 

Zoning Coordinator Nicole Cromwell, Karen Husman, Planner I, Tammy Deines, Planning Clerk 

Other Participants:  Shawn Thorson, IMEG; Amber Long, Monica Sayler, Pam Swanke Holly 
Swanke, Alice Swanke, Nicole West, Dave West, Brent Weitman, Kevin McKenney 

Public Comment 
Commissioner Poppler asked if there was anyone wishing to speak during the public comment 
portion of the meeting. The Public may call in during specific Public Comment periods at  
(406) 237-6165.  All callers will be in a queued system and are asked to remain on hold and be
patient. Calls will be taken in the order in which they are received. Callers will be restricted to
three minutes of testimony as is customary.   There were no public comments.

Motion. Approval of Minutes: August 8, 2022  

Motion 
It was moved by Commissioner Hewitt and seconded by Commissioner Gentry to approve 
the August 8, 2022 meeting minutes as submitted. The motion carried with a unanimous 
voice vote. 

No exparte communications or conflicts of interest were announced by the Commissioners. 
No one wished to comment regarding items not on the agenda. 



Yellowstone County Zoning Commission 
Approved Minutes for the Meeting of 

Monday, September 12, 2022 

2-APPROVED

Zoning Coordinator Nicole Cromwell read aloud the procedures for a public hearing. This item is 
continued from the August 8, 2022 Yellowstone County Zoning Commission meeting. 

Item #1. Return Item - County Zone Change 712 – 2433 Highway 87 E – From RR3 
to N1 and NX1 - A zone change request from Rural Residential 3 (RR3) to First 
Neighborhood (N1), and Mixed Residential (NX1), on C.O.S. 929, PARCEL 4, AMD and  
S31, T01 N, R27 E, SENWNW4, an 14.45 acre parcel of land. A pre-application 
neighborhood meeting was held on June 15, 2022, at Lockwood School. Tax ID: D06622 
& D06613. 

Public Hearing 
Commissioner Poppler continued the public hearing and asked if there is anyone wishing to speak 
regarding County Zone Change #712.   

Shawn Thorson, IMEG, 175 N 27th Street, STE 1312, Billings, Montana  
Commissioner Poppler commented on a discussion during the preapplication meeting regarding 
self-storage units.  Mr. Thorson explained that the original application included storage units but 
the request has changed and will include single and multiple residential units.  Commissioner 
Hewitt asked about the water services.  Mr. Thorson said Lockwood Water Services will be 
extended to this property and the sewer will be extend about a half-mile to the east and then to the 
development.  The services will be provided concurrently with the development.  Commissioner 
Gentry asked if there are green zones.  Mr. Thorson said there is parkland provided for filings two 
and three for park areas.   

Alice Swanke, 2820 Highway 87E, Billings, MT 
Ms. Swanke stated she objects to the zone change due to the potential for increased traffic and 
crime. 

Nicole West, 2415 US Highway 87 East, Billings MT 
Ms. West spoke in opposition to the increase in density and the potential for extra traffic on 
Highway 87 East.  She said the zoning sign was posted in an unsafe location.  She wants to 
maintain the rural nature of the subdivision.  She said the residents are tired of paying for housing 
developments that they have nothing to do with. 

Jim Logan, (no address given) 
Mr. Logan stated he is a longtime resident in this area.  He feels that a 140-unit subdivision is 
“way out of line” for this area. He spoke to the difficulty of access due to increased vehicle traffic.  
He voiced concern with children’s safety.  Mr. Logan said there is a public safety problem and this 
development will increase the crime rate.  He stressed that this is not the intent of the property 
owners to experience this type of growth. 



Yellowstone County Zoning Commission 
Approved Minutes for the Meeting of Monday, 

September 12, 2022 

3-APPROVED

Monica Sayler, 2963 US Highway 87 E, Billings, MT 
Ms. Sayler is a long-time resident.  She is adamantly opposed to this proposal as they are “open 
range” residents.  She voiced concerns this plan will affect the neighborhood character and traffic 
density, overcrowding the enrollment at Lockwood School.  She stated there will be a negative 
impact on the rural community with increased crime.  Residents are opposed to the “land grab”.  
Ms. Saylor gave statistics of the vehicle trips per day should this population influx take place.   
She does not approve any increase in property taxes.  She feels this plan is an insult to the 
neighborhood as the majority of the parcels are large.   

Holly Swanke, 2752 Highway 87 East, Billings, MT 
Ms. Swanke stated over the years Johnson Lane has become very busy- especially with the new 
high school.  She spoke to the poor road conditions in the winter.  Ms. Swanke said there is 
nothing for children to do other than wander and this is “opening up a kettle”.  Her daughter’s new 
house view shed will look down on this subdivision.  She said there is no guarantee as to who will 
live there and the neighborhood should not suffer. She stressed that the highway cannot handle the 
increased traffic from the school to the parcel, and closed with the comment, “This is crazy”. 

Todd Cantrell, 2030 Prairie Drive, Billings, MT  
Mr. Cantrell is against the proposed zone change.  He voiced concern with school children’s and 
the increased traffic and problems.  Mr. Cantrell said they bought their property to maintain a rural 
setting.  He said it is peculiar the developer would purchase the property prior to approval of the 
proposed zone change.  He feels that adding and compounding to the existing issues will not help. 

David West, 2415 US Highway 87 East, Billings, MT 
Mr. West said property owner Mr. Vinton is selling his home and leaving this as a legacy to those 
that live there.  He said more emergency medical services are needed along with law enforcement 
to deal with the crime.  He voiced concern with the loss of Community Policing. 

Pam Swanke, 2926 Henderson Road, Billings, MT 
Ms. Swanke is opposed to this zone change.  She said they are agricultural and appreciate the life 
style, and there should be no encroachment on the agricultural land in this area.  

Rebuttal 

Shawn Thorson, IMEG, 175 N 27th Street, STE 1312, Billings, Montana  
Mr. Thorson said a traffic study will be performed for the subdivision review and determination 
will be made for the need for a turn lane.  Commissioner Hewitt asked if there are mass transit 
services and Mr. Thorson responded that mass transit services are not available to this area at this 
time.  He said the capital improvement costs for the development will be borne by the developer.  
He said he will find out if there are any additional costs.  He no light pollution going through 
houses is intended.   



Yellowstone County Zoning Commission 
Approved Minutes for the Meeting of Monday, 

September 12, 2022 

4-APPROVED

Commissioner Poppler asked if there is anyone else wishing to speak in favor of County Zone 
Change #712.  There were none.  Commissioner Poppler closed the public hearing at 4:36 pm and 
called for discussion.   

Discussion 
Commissioner Hewitt commented he is not “a fan” of developments in the area without mass 
transit services where residents have to rely on their own vehicles.   In response to question by 
Zoning Coordinator Nicole Cromwell, Planner Karen Husman reported the density calculations in 
the staff report were provided by the YC PW/Engineering Department.  Commissioner Gentry 
pointed out the narrow road width near Johnson Lane.   

Commissioner Poppler spoke to the need for affordable housing options in the Lockwood area, and 
the Lockwood Growth Policy encourages more affordable developments.  This tract is within 
range of Lockwood water and sewer services.  He said he is aware of the tight traffic conditions on 
Highway 87.  He noted the new Lockwood school and said that children’s safety is important.  
Commissioner Poppler acknowledge the need and the potential impact on the neighborhood.  
Commissioner Gentry spoke to the desire of residents to live in Lockwood due to the school 
system but there is a lack of affordable housing.  A petition to deny County Zone Change #712 
dated August 21, 2022 was submitted for the Commissioners review.  Commissioner Poppler read 
the petition aloud.   

Zoning Coordinator explained the staff recommendation and asked the Commissioners to consider 
the staff recommendations and findings.  Should the Commissioners have a different 
recommendation, different findings will have to be provided.   

 Motion 
Commissioner Hewitt made a motion to recommendation of denial Zone Change #712 on 
the basis of public safety due to traffic and the impact on the community. (Criterion 3, 4, 
and 6).  

Discussion 
Commissioner Gentry said she likes to see a development that will bring forward water and sewer 
services.  The current zoning allows for 3-acres as a minimum allowable lot area. She is against 
the proposal due to school children riding bikes and walking on the highway.   

The motion is seconded by Commissioner Gentry. 

The motion carried 3-0, with a unanimous voice vote. . Zone Change #712 is denied. 



Yellowstone County Zoning Commission 
Approved Minutes for the Meeting of Monday, 

September 12, 2022 

5-DRAFT

The Board of County Commissioners public hearing for these applications will be held on 
Tuesday, October 4, 2022, at 9:30 a.m. at 316 N 26th Street – 3rd Floor, Commissioner’s 
Hearing Room. The Board of County Commissioners will hear all persons wishing to speak 
relative to the proposed Zone Changes.  

OTHER BUSINESS 
a. Announcements:

• There is one vacancy on the County Zoning Commission.
• The October 10, 2022 Yellowstone County Zoning Commission meeting is canceled due

to a lack of agenda items.

Adjournment 4:46 PM 

Approved by a motion at the next scheduled meeting. 

--Tamara L. Deines, Planning Clerk 


















